A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Darren Barker was charged with one count of second degree 

child molestation for allegedly having sexual contact with his step

daughter. At trial, the court permitted the jury to hear that Mr. Barker 

had possessed images of "incest-related pornography" on his computer. 

The court's ruling was erroneous because the evidence was 

categorically forbidden by ER 404(b). In a prosecution for child 

molestation, a court may not admit evidence that the accused possessed 

pornography, unless the pornography is somehow connected to the 

alleged victim of the current charge. Because there was no such 

connection in this case, the inflammatory evidence merely encouraged 

the jury to draw the improper conclusion that Mr. Barker must have 

committed the charged crime because of his apparent interest in 

incestuous sex. The erroneous admission of the evidence in violation 

of ER 404(b) requires reversal. 

In addition, the condition of community custody entirely barring 

Mr. Barker from using the internet must be stricken because there is no 

evidence that Mr. Barker used the internet to facilitate commission of 

the crime, and because the condition unreasonably curtails his First 

Amendment rights. 



B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence 

that Mr. Barker possessed "incest-related pornography." 

2. The condition of community custody barring Mr. Barker 

from using the internet is not statutorily authorized because it is not 

"crime-related. " 

3. The condition of community custody barring Mr. Barker 

from using the internet is unconstitutionally overbroad. 

c. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. A trial court may not admit evidence that the defendant 

possessed pornography in a prosecution for child molestation unless the 

pornography is somehow connected to the alleged victim of the current 

charge. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting evidence 

that Mr. Barker possessed "incest-related pornography," where the 

pornography had no connection to the alleged victim of the current 

charge? 

2. A trial court is statutorily authorized to impose "crime

related prohibitions" only if they are directly related to the 

circumstances of the crime. A condition barring internet use is "crime

related" only if the defendant used the internet to facilitate commission 
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of the crime. Did the court err in barring Mr. Barker from using the 

internet as a condition of community custody where he did not use the 

internet to facilitate commission of the crime? 

3. A person on community custody has a First Amendment 

right to access and distribute written and visual material on the internet. 

A condition of community custody infringing on this right is 

constitutional only if the condition is narrowly tailored and sensitively 

imposed, and only ifthere are no reasonable alternative ways to protect 

the public. Is the condition of community custody completely barring 

Mr. Barker from using the internet unconstitutionally overbroad, where 

the record does not show such a sweeping prohibition is necessary to 

protect the public? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Mr. Barker and Michelle Hutcheson were married in 1997. 

8/07112RP 26. The couple had three children together. 8/07112RP 25. 

Ms. Hutcheson also had an older daughter, C.B., with her previous 

husband. 8/07112RP 25. In Spring 2007, the couple and their four 

children were living together in Darrington, Washington 8/07112RP 

27. 
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Mr. Barker acted like a father to C.B. and the two generally got 

along well. 8/07112RP 28,88. C.B. felt Mr. Barker did not give her 

enough privacy, however. 8/07/12RP 90-93. Sometimes he would 

walk into her bedroom, which did not have a door, without knocking, 

or into the bathroom while she was taking a shower. Id. He also 

sometimes grounded her for things for which other kids would not have 

got in trouble. 8/07112RP 136. 

In late March 2007, when C.B. was 13 years old, Ms. Hutcheson 

took the youngest child to Texas for a week for her grandmother's 

funeral. 8/07112RP 30, 84. The other children stayed horne with Mr. 

Barker. Id. The night before Ms. Hutcheson returned horne, she called 

the house several times but no one answered. 8/07112RP 31. After a 

while, Mr. Barker picked up the phone. Id. He told his wife he had 

been talking to C.B. about sex and had the girl look at her private parts 

in a hand mirror. 8/07/12RP 31-32. He admitted his behavior was 

inappropriate and he had gone "overboard." Id. Ms. Hutcheson was 

angry and confused because the couple had agreed it was not Mr. 

Barker's place to teach C.B. about sex. 8/07112RP 29. Ms. Hutcheson 

then talked to C.B., who said she was fine and did not say anything 

more had happened. 8/07/12RP 32. 
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When Ms. Hutcheson got home, she talked to Mr. Barker and 

C.B. again about the incident. Both Mr. Barker and C.B. said he was in 

the room with C.B. while he had her look at herself in the mirror. 

8/07/12RP 34. They both said her clothing was off but his remained 

on. 8/07112RP 34. Neither one said anything more had happened. 

A few weeks later, Mr. Barker's employer discovered he had 

been accessing "incest-related pornography" on his work computer. 

8/07112RP 145; 9112112RP 94. CPS and the police were notified and, 

after talking with the family members, investigators learned about the 

March incident. C.B. and Mr. Barker again explained that Mr. Barker 

had C.B. take off her clothes and look at her private parts in a hand 

mirror while he talked to her about sex; they both said he did not touch 

her. 8/07112RP 111; 8/08112RP 9. 

The family entered an agreed safety plan and Mr. Barker left the 

home for several months. 8/07112RP 36. In December 2009, long after 

Mr. Barker had returned home, Ms. Hutcheson again asked C.B. about 

the March 2007 incident. 8/07112RP 40. This time, C.B. said Mr. 

Barker touched her private parts while he had her look at herself in the 

hand mirror. 8/07112RP 114. At trial, C.B. said she told her mother in 

December 2009 that Mr. Barker had touched her because at around that 
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time, he had begun to make her uncomfortable by giving her gifts and 

making comments about how attractive she was. 8/07112RP 115. 

Ms. Hutcheson called police. 8/07112RP 42. The State charged 

Mr. Barker with one count of second degree child molestation, RCW 

9A.44.086. 1 CP 7-8. 

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to exclude any reference to 

Mr. Barker viewing pornography on his work computer. CP 28. There 

was no evidence that the images were of children. CP 3, 28. The State 

did not object. CP 38. The court granted the motion and excluded 

"any evidence about pornography on the computer." 8/06112RP 6. 

At trial, C.B. testified that during the March 2007 incident, Mr. 

Barker told her to try on some clothes they had received from a friend. 

8/07112RP 94. He insisted she tryon the clothes in front of him. 

8/07112RP 96. When she refused, he took off her clothes, took a mirror 

from the night stand, and had her look at herself between her legs. 

8/07112RP 101-04. He touched her private parts in about five different 

places while instructing her on the purpose of each part. 8/07112RP 

104. He did not take off his own clothes. 8/07112RP 106. C.B. could 

not tell if he had an erection. 8/07112RP 106. 

I The State also charged and convicted Mr. Barker of one count of 
bail jumping. That conviction is not at issue in this appeal. 
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After C.B. 's testimony, outside the presence of the jury, the 

prosecutor requested the court reconsider its earlier ruling and admit 

evidence that Mr. Barker had viewed "incest-related pornography" on 

his work computer. 8/07/12RP 145. The prosecutor argued the 

evidence was relevant to show Mr. Barker acted for the purpose of 

sexual gratification.2 8/07112RP 146. Defense counsel strenuously 

objected and argued this was inadmissible propensity evidence. 

8/07112RP 146. The court overruled the objection, finding the 

relevance of the evidence outweighed its potential for prejudice. 

8/07112RP 148-49. 

Subsequently, a police detective testified, again over defense 

objection, that Mr. Barker told him he had viewed what Mr. Barker 

believed was "incest-related pornography" on the internet. 8/08112RP 

10-11. 

The jury found Mr. Barker guilty as charged of second degree 

child molestation. CP 59. 

2 To prove the charged crime of second degree child molestation, 
the State was required to prove that Mr. Barker had "sexual contact" with 
C.B., which required the State to prove that he touched her "sexual or 
other intimate parts ... for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either 
party or a third party." RCW 9A.44.01O(c)(2), .086(1). 
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E. ARGUMENT 

1. The trial court erred in admitting 
inflammatory evidence that Mr. Barker 
viewed "incest-related pornography" on his 
computer because the evidence was relevant 
only for the improper purpose of showing he 
had a predisposition to commit incest 

a. ER 404(b) categorically excludes evidence 
that the accused possessed child 
pornography in a prosecution for child 
molestation, unless the evidence is 
connected to the particular alleged victim 
of the current charge. 

In State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870,884-86,204 P.3d 916 

(2009), the Washington Supreme Court held that, in a prosecution for 

child molestation, evidence that the defendant possessed child 

pornography is inadmissible unless it shows a sexual desire for the 

particular alleged victim. Otherwise, such evidence is relevant only for 

the improper purpose of showing the defendant was predisposed to 

molest children. Therefore, it is categorically excluded by ER 404(b). 

Id. 

ER 404(b i prohibits the use of other misconduct evidence to 

prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in 

3 ER 404(b) provides: "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is 
not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in 
conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, 
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conformity with that character. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 886. The 

evidence is excluded-even if it is relevant-because it is unfairly 

prejudicial. Id.; State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358,361-62,655 P.2d 

697 (1982) ("In no case, ... regardless of its relevance or 

probativeness, may the evidence be admitted to prove the character of 

the accused in order to show he acted in conformity therewith. "). The 

rule is based on the fundamental notion that a defendant must be tried 

only for the offense charged. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 886-87. Ajury 

may not be permitted to infer that, since the accused committed some 

other offense, he must also have committed the crime for which he is 

being tried. United States v. Fosher, 568 F.2d 207,212 (1st Cir. 1978). 

In deciding whether other misconduct evidence is admissible, 

the trial court must determine if the evidence is logically relevant to a 

material issue other than propensity. State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 

361-62, 655 P.2d 697 (1982). The Washington Supreme Court has 

consistently and repeatedly insisted that trial courts be especially 

careful about excluding improper character evidence in sex abuse 

cases. See Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 886-87; State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 

772,780-81,684 P.2d 668 (1984); Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d at 363. That is 

such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, 
identity, or absence of mistake or accident." 
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because "[o]nce the accused has been characterized as a person of 

abnormal bent, driven by biological inclination, it seems relatively easy 

to arrive at the conclusion that he must be guilty, he could not help but 

be otherwise." Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d at 363 (internal quotation marks 

and citation omitted). In cases where admissibility is a close call, the 

scale should be tipped in favor of the defendant and exclusion of the 

evidence. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 886-87. 

In a prosecution for child molestation, evidence that the accused 

possessed child pornography is excluded by ER 404(b) because it is 

generally relevant only to show the defendant's predisposition to 

molest children. Id. at 886. It may be admissible under limited 

circumstances to show the defendant's "lustful disposition" toward the 

particular alleged victim. Id.; State v. Medcalf, 58 Wn. App. 817, 822-

23, 795 P.2d 158 (1990). But if the pornography has no connection 

with the alleged victim, it must be excluded. Medcalf, 58 Wn. App. at 

822-23. 

A trial court's interpretation ofER 404(b) is reviewed de novo 

as a matter oflaw. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 745,202 P.3d 937 

(2009). If the trial court interprets ER 404(b) correctly, the Court 

reviews the trial court's decision to admit misconduct evidence for an 
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abuse of discretion. Id. A trial court abuses its discretion if it fails to 

abide by the rule's requirements. Id. 

b. The trial court erred in admitting evidence 
that Mr. Barker possessed "incest-related 
pornography" because the evidence had no 
connection to C.B. 

Just as ER 404(b) precludes evidence that the accused possessed 

child pornography in a prosecution for child molestation, it also 

precludes evidence that the accused possessed "incest-related 

pornography" in a prosecution for child molestation where the alleged 

victim is the defendant's stepdaughter. 

The evidence was not relevant to show Mr. Barker had a "lustful 

disposition" toward C.B. because it had no connection to C.B. See 

Medcalf 58 Wn. App at 822-23. There is no evidence that Mr. Barker 

possessed any pornographic images of C.B. Apparently, the 

pornography he viewed involved images of adults, not children. CP 3, 

28. There is no evidence that C.B. ever viewed the pornography or 

knew anything about it. 

Instead, the evidence was relevant only for the improper 

purpose of showing that Mr. Barker had a predisposition to commit 

incest. See Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 886-88. The prosecutor explicitly 

stated that this was the reason why she offered the evidence. The 
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prosecutor argued that the evidence was relevant because it showed 

"[Mr. Barker] is interested in incest, and he is carrying it out." 

8/07112RP 146. The prosecutor's argument, and the trial court's 

decision to admit the evidence, contravened the fundamental principles 

underlying ER 404(b). Contrary to the prosecutor's argument, 

evidence of other acts of sexual misconduct is not admissible to show 

the accused had a particular deviant sexual interest that he acted upon 

in this particular case. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 886-87; Saltarelli, 98 

Wn.2d at 363. In sum, the trial court's decision to admit the evidence 

violated ER 404(b). 

c. The trial court's error in admitting the 
inflammatory evidence was not harmless. 

The erroneous admission of evidence in violation of ER 404(b) 

requires reversal if, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the 

trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred. 

State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405,433,269 P.3d 207 (2012). Evidence 

of other sexual misconduct is particularly inflammatory and prejudicial 

in a prosecution for a sex offense. The Washington Supreme Court has 

not hesitated to reverse a sex offense conviction where evidence of 

other sexual misconduct was erroneously admitted. See, e.g., Gresham, 
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173 Wn. 2d at 433-34; Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d at 887; Saltarelli, 98 

Wn.2d at 367. 

In Gresham, a prosecution for child molestation, the trial court 

erroneously admitted evidence that the defendant had previously 

molested another child. 173 Wn.2d 405. The untainted evidence 

consisted of the alleged victim's testimony that Gresham molested her, 

her parents' corroboration that he had the opportunity to do so, and the 

investigating officer's testimony. Id. at 433-34. The Supreme Court 

held that, although this evidence was sufficient for the jury to convict, 

there was nonetheless a reasonable probability that absent the highly 

prejudicial other misconduct evidence, the jury's verdict would have 

been materially affected. Id. 

In Sutherby, the defendant was convicted of first degree child 

rape and first degree child molestation for allegedly inserting his finger 

into his granddaughter' s vagina. 165 Wn.2d at 874-85. He was also 

convicted of possession of child pornography for possessing images of 

children unrelated to his granddaughter. The Supreme Court held that 

defense counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to 

move to sever the child rape and molestation counts from the child 

pornography counts. Id. at 884-87. Counsel ' s ineffective assistance 
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required reversal of the child rape and molestation convictions because, 

had the charges been severed and the evidence of child pornography 

not been admitted at a separate trial on the rape and molestation counts, 

there was a reasonable probability that the outcome ofthat separate trial 

would have been different. Id. at 887; see also Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d at 

367 (conviction for first degree rape reversed where trial court 

erroneously admitted evidence of defendant's prior sexual assault 

against a different woman). 

Just as in Gresham, Sutherby, and Saltarelli, the erroneous 

admission of highly inflammatory evidence of other sexual misconduct 

was not harmless in this case. Once the jury learned that Mr. Barker 

possessed "incest-related pornography," they likely concluded-as the 

prosecutor intended-that he must have molested his stepdaughter due 

to his apparent interest in incestuous sex. There is a reasonable 

probability that, absent the improper evidence, the outcome of the trial 

would have been different. The remaining, untainted evidence 

consisted primarily of C.B.' s testimony that Mr. Barker touched her, 

which contradicted several of her earlier statements. At the same time, 

the evidence showed C.B. had a possible motive to fabricate the 

allegations so that Mr. Barker, who made her uncomfortable and 
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disciplined her harshly, would have to leave the home. Thus, the 

erroneous admission of evidence in violation of ER 404(b) was not 

harmless and the conviction must be reversed. 

2. The condition of community custody barring 
Mr. Barker from using the internet must be 
stricken 

At sentencing, the court imposed 36 months of community 

custody. CP 65. Over defense objection, the court imposed the 

following condition: "Do not have access to the Internet, or any social 

media on the internet, cell phone or other electronic devices without the 

permission from the Community Corrections Officer." CP 75. This 

condition must be stricken because it is not "crime-related" and 

because it unreasonably infringes Mr. Barker's First Amendment 

rights. 

A court's sentencing conditions are reviewed for abuse of 

discretion. In re Pers. Restraint of Rainey, 168 Wn.2d 367,374,229 

P.3d 686 (2010). A sentencing court abuses its discretion in imposing a 

condition if it applies the wrong legal standard. Id. The court also 

abuses its discretion if it imposes a condition that is unconstitutional. 

State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739,753, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). 
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a. The condition is not "crime-related" 
because Mr. Barker did not use the internet 
to facilitate commission of the crime. 

When imposing a term of community custody following a 

criminal conviction, a court may order an offender to "[ c ]omply with 

any crime-related prohibitions." RCW 9.94A.703(3)(f). A "crime-

related prohibition" is "an order of a court prohibiting conduct that 

directly relates to the circumstances of the crime for which the offender 

has been convicted." RCW 9.94A.030(10). The philosophy underlying 

the "crime-related" provision is that offenders may be punished for 

their crimes and may be prohibited from doing things that are directly 

related to their crimes, but they may not be coerced into doing things 

that are believed to rehabilitate them. State v. Riley, 121 Wn.2d 22, 

36-37,846 P.2d 1365 (1993); David Boerner, Sentencing in 

Washington, §4.5, at 4-7 (1985). 

A court may not prohibit an offender from using a computer or 

accessing the internet during community custody unless the offender 

used a computer or the internet to facilitate commission of the crime. 

In Riley, for example, Riley was convicted of three counts of computer 

trespass for "hacking" into the computer systems oftwo telephone 

companies. 121 Wn.2d at 27. As a condition of his sentence, the court 
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prohibited him from possessing a computer. Id. The Supreme Court 

held the condition was properly "crime-related" because "[a]llowing 

Riley to possess a computer would facilitate his commission of 

computer trespass in the future." Id. at 37. Also, prohibiting him from 

possessing a computer was a reasonable punishment for a "self

proclaimed hacker." Id. 

Similarly, in State v. Combs, 102 Wn. App. 949, 951,10 P.3d 

1101 (2000), Combs was convicted of two counts of second degree 

child molestation. As a condition of community supervision, the court 

prohibited him from using computers. Id. at 953. This Court upheld 

the condition because Combs had used a computer to facilitate 

commission of the crimes. Combs had used a computer to show 

pornographic images to his victims and then required them to pose with 

him in the same positions they had just viewed on the computer. Id. 

In contrast, in State v. O'Cain, 144 Wn. App. 772, 774, 184

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