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

website. 8/8/12 RP 11. 

Darren Barker testified solely as to the bail jumping charges. 8/8/12 

RP 14-21. Barker contended that he communicated with his counsel by e

mail and occasional phone calls. 8/8/12 RP 18. Barker said he would get 

documents sent to him that he would sign, scan and send back. 8/8/12 RP 

18. Barker contended that he had not been notified before January 28,2011, 

that his attorney was no longer representing him. 8/8/12 RP 18. He also 

claimed he did not know he was ordered by the Court to appear on January 

28, 2011. 8/8/12 RP 18-9. He admitted he did not appear that day and 

thought that his counsel would have represented him and claimed that he was 

given the impression by his counsel that he was not expected to appear. 

8/8/12 RP 19. 

On cross-examination, Barker admitted to signing the court order for 

him to appear on January 28th• 8/8/12 RP 20. Barker also admitted that he 
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stayed in Texas for six months and did not come back to court to deal with 

the bailjwnping charge until July of2011. 8/8/12 RP 21. 

Barker had is prior attorney, Richard Sybrandy, testify solely as to 

the bailjwnping charge. 8/8/12 RP 70-83. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

1. Admission of the defendant's statement admitting to interest 
in incest was not error. 

i. The motion in limine was to exclude evidence that the 
defendant had been fired for viewing pornography on 
his work computer. 

Barker contends the trial court erred in allowing the admission of the 

infonnation about Barker's admission to an interest in incest after initially 

excluding that evidence in a motion in limine. 

However, the motion in limine was actually a motion to exclude the 

fact that the defendant had been fired for viewing child pornography on his 

work computer. In the motion, there was no mention of the defendant's 

statement that he had admitted to viewing what was represented to be incest 

pornography. 

Defense motion in limine 9 read as follows: 

To exclude evidence that Mr. Barker was fired from a job 
before the date of violation because of his unauthorized 
viewing of pornography on his work computer. There is no 
evidence that Mr. Barker viewed child pornography. Such 
evidence is not related to the charges here and would not be 
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relevant for any other purpose than showing Mr. Barker. ER 
401,402, 404(a), 404(b). 

CP 28. The trial court granted the motion ruling as follows. 

Nine (9) to exclude evidence that Mr. Barker was fired from 
the job and I think we have already agreed that we're going 
to grant that. We're not going to into whether there is any 
evidence about pornography on the computer. 

8/6/12 RP2 6. The State made no comment relating to the trial court's ruling 

and did not seek to admit the fact that the defendant had been fired, or the 

reason. However, since it was part of the same conversation, prior to 

questioning the detective, the prosecutor sought to address with the trial 

court the admission of the defendant's statement to viewing what was 

represented to him to be incest pornography. 

The evidence was that Barker had admitted to the investigating 

detective to viewing incest-related pornography during the same time frame 

of the alleged sexual conduct with his step-daughter. 8/7/12 RP 145-7. 

Viewed in this context, the trial court's determination was a proper 

balancing analysis under ER 404(b). 

ii. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing 
the defendant's admission showing an interest in 
incest which he was alleged to have committed. 

The viewing of incest related pornography admitted to during the 

interview by the detective investigating the molestation, was relevant to the 

issue of whether Barker had the intent to engage in sexual contact with his 
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step-daughter. This admission goes to show the defendant's 

acknowledgement of the wrongfulness of the conduct with his step-daughter 

and as result is an admission to the crime. 

ER 404(b) allows admission of other acts to show intent. 

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not 
admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show 
action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be 
admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, 
opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or 
absence of mistake or accident. 

ER 404 (emphasis added). Intent is an element of child molestation because 

proof of sexual contact is required which by definition requires sexual 

gratification. 

A person is guilty of child molestation in the second 
degree when the person has, or knowingly causes another 
person under the age of eighteen to have, sexual contact with 
another who is at least twelve years old but less than fourteen 
years old and not married to the perpetrator and the 
perpetrator is at least thirty-six months older than the victim. 

RCW 9A.44.086 (emphasis added). 

(2) "Sexual contact" means any touching of the sexual or 
other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of 
gratifying sexual desire of either party or a third party. 

RCW 9A.44.010. 

In order to prove "sexual contact," the State must establish 
the defendant acted with a purpose of sexual gratification. 
Thus, while sexual gratification is not an explicit element of 
second degree child molestation, the State must prove a 
defendant acted for the purpose of sexual gratification. 
Intent is relevant to the crime of second degree child 
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molestation because it is necessary to prove the element of 
sexual contact. 

State v. Stevens, 158 Wn.2d 304,309-10, 143 P.3d 817 (2006). 

Here, the trial court evaluated whether the defendant's admission to 

viewing incest -related pornography was evidence of proof of intent and 

whether the probative value outweighed prejudice. As a result evaluation of 

the trial court's decision is reviewed for abuse of discretion. 

We review the trial court's interpretation of ER 
404(b) de novo as a matter of law. Foxhoven 161 Wn.2d at 
174, 163 P.3d 786. If the trial court interprets ER 404(b) 
correctly, we review the trial court's ruling to admit or 
exclude evidence of misconduct for an abuse of discretion. 
Id A trial court abuses its discretion where it fails to abide by 
the rule's requirements. Id. 

State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 745, 202 P.3d 937,946 (2009) citing State 

v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 163 P.3d 786 (2007). 

The record before the trial court showed that the trial court did the 

proper weighing under ER 404(b). 

THE COURT: Well, it is prejudicial, but everything the state 
offers to a certain degree is prejudicial. As to whether it's too 
prejudicial, on a balancing, is it so prejudicial that it 
overcomes pertinent relevance, relevant reason for giving it 
to the jury? 

In this case it's relevant. We're talking about incest 
sites visited on a computer, and the nature of the charge 
involves an allegation of an attempted incestual relationship, 
so it's relevant there. 

Secondly, it is something that Mr. Barker said to the 
detective in the course of the detective's investigation and in 
the course of conversation with the detective, so ... 
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and the relevance overcomes the prohibitive prejudicial 
effect. . .. 

8/7/12 RP 147-8. The trial court did the requisite weighing and determine 

the probative value as to the issue of intent exceeded the prejudicial effect. 

In State v. Mutchler, the trial court admitted testimony from another 

female who had been stalked in the days prior to the incident and saw the 

defendant staring at her crotch as proof of intent to commit an assault on the 

victim. The Court of Appeals indicated that the evidence that the defendant 

had followed the other woman and had stared at her crotch was probative of 

his intent to commit rape or indecent liberties. State v. Mutchler, 53 Wn. 

App. 898 at 904. The Court went on to note that the prejudicial effect was 

minimal as the prior "bad acts" were ambiguous and did not show a 

propensity to rape. Id. 

We therefore conclude that the probative value of the 
evidence outweighs any unfair prejudicial effect. Thus, the 
evidence is admissible under ER 404(b) on the issue of 
whether Mutchler intended to commit rape or indecent 
liberties on the victim. 

State v. Mutchler, 53 Wash. App. 898 at 904. 

Thus, the courts of this State have recognized that the second 

sentence of ER 404(b) must be viewed in evaluating whether there was a 

proper trial court ruling. 
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Some federal court rulings have recognized that prior sexual conduct 

with a minor can be admissible to show motive and intent under the 

equivalent federal rule. 

"Prior instances of sexual misconduct with a child victim 
may establish a defendant's sexual interest in children and 
thereby serve as evidence of the defendant's motive to 
commit a charged offense involving the sexual exploitation 
of children." U.S. v. Sebolt 460 F.3d 910, 917 (7th Cir.2006) 
(citing U.S. v. Cunningham. 103 F.3d 553, 556 (7th 
Cir.1996)); see Zahursky, 580 F.3d at 524. 

U.S. v. Chambers, 642 F.3d 588, 595 (7th Cir. 2011) (admission of images 

of pornography on child's computer were admissible to show motive and 

intent on charges of attempting to entice minor to engage in sexual activity 

and knowingly transporting child pornography). 

iii. The case law regarding other sexual offenses does not 
support that error occurred here. 

Barker relies primarily on three cases to support his contention that 

the trial court improperly admitted his admission showing an interest in 

incest. The State contends those cases do not support error occurred in the 

present case. In the present case, it was the defendant's admission of 

viewing incest pornography to the investigating detective. This is markedly 

different from those cases involving the admission of actual pornography. 

In State v. Sutherby, the defendant was tried jointly on charges of 

rape of child, child molestation and possession of child pornography. State 
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v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 876, 204 P.3d 916 (2009). Sutherby was 

convicted and appealed contending his counsel was ineffective for failing to 

move to sever the child pornography charges. State v. Sutherby. 165 Wn.2d 

870 at 883. The consideration involved whether there was deficient 

performance and whether the defendant was prejudiced. In reaching the 

decision on prejudice, the court evaluated whether there was a reasonable 

probability of whether the outcome would be different. In the four areas 

considered, the Supreme Court believed it was "likely" the evidence of the 

child pornography charges would not have been admissible. 

Based on the inflammatory nature of the crimes, we think it 
likely that the evidence of the child pornography would not 
have been admissible at a separate trial for child rape and 
molestation. Neither would the evidence of the child rape and 
molestation have been admissible at a separate trial for 
possession of child pornography. A defendant must be tried 
for the offenses charged, and evidence of unrelated conduct 
should not be admitted unless it goes to the material issues of 
motive, intent, absence of accident or mistake, common 
scheme or plan, or identity. State v. Goebel. 36 Wn.2d 367, 
368-69,218 P.2d 300 (1950). 

State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 887, 204 P.3d 916 (2009). To support 

that position the Court cited to three cases in which evidence of possession 

of pornography was allowed to show sexual desire toward a particular 

victim. State v. Ray, 116 Wn. 2d 531, 547, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991) (prior 

sexual acts toward victim were evidence supporting a showing of sexual 

intent), State v. Ferguson, 100 Wn.2d 131, 133-34, 667 P.2d 68 (1983) 
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(photographs of prior sexual encounter with minor were admissible showed 

lustful disposition toward the victim); State v. Medcalf, 58 Wn. App. 817, 

822-23, 795 P.2d 158 (1990) (misconduct directly connected to the offended 

female and does not just reveal defendant's general sexual proclivities, was 

admissible). However, those cases only stand for the proposition that 

showing lustful disposition is one proper purpose for admitting ER 404(b) 

evidence. When the Court in Sutherby stated it was "likely that the 

evidence of the child pornography would not have been admissible seemed 

to leave" it left open the possibility that the evidence would have been 

admissible. The Supreme Court has appeared to gloss over the portion of the 

ER 404(b) analysis which allows admission of evidence to show intent.3 

Where the State is required to prove sexual intent to prove child molestation, 

the evidence showing sexual intent towards a minor child does not fall 

3 The dissent in Sutherby noted that the Court had not evaluated whether the 
evidence would be admissible under ER 404(b) to show the other factors of motive, 
opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. 

The majority assumes that, because our prior cases involving evidence of 
possession of child pornography have only dealt with the lustful 
disposition exception to ER 404(b), ipso facto other ER 404(b) exceptions 
do not apply to such evidence. This ignores the plain language of ER 
404(b) and has no support in our case law. It is also inconsistent with child 
sexual assault cases where we have explicitly approved admission of ER 
404(b) evidence for other purposes. See, e.g., State v. DeVincentis, 150 
Wn.2d 11, 17-23, 74 P.3d 119 (2003) (common scheme or plan); State v. 
Kilgore, 147 Wash.2d 288, 295, 53 P.3d 974 (2002) (motive and 
opportunity); State v. Elmore, 139 Wash.2d 250, 286, 985 P.2d 289 
(1999) (res gestae). 

State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 894, 204 P.3d 916 (2009) (Johnson dissenting. 
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within the portion of ER 404(b) which prevents admission of "to prove the 

character of a person in order to show action in confonnity therewith." 

Barker also discusses the analysis from State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn. 2d 

358, 655 P.2d 697 (1982). The court there held that evidence of the 

defendant's assault on a woman was not relevant to the issue of the 

defendant's motive for raping a different woman almost five years later 

where there was no similarity shown between conduct. That is so dissimilar 

that the legal analysis from that case is oflittle benefit to the analysis here. 

In State v. Medcalf, 58 Wn. App. 817, 795 P.2d 158 (1990), the 

defendant was charged with second degree statutory rape. The trial court 

admitted testimony that the defendant had possession of X-rated video tapes. 

The State had argued the evidence because the movies could be used to 

entice children. State v. Medcalf, 58 Wn. App. 817 823. However there was 

no evidence that the defendant had actually been to the defendant's 

apartment to watch movies or that she watched any. Id. The Court ruled the 

trial court had erred in admission of the evidence because it was not 

admissible to show other motive or intent. 

ER 404(b) prohibits the use of evidence of other 
crimes, wrongs, or acts to prove the character of a person in 
order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. While 
this kind of evidence may be admissible to establish motive, 
intent, preparation, or plan, evidence showing lustful 
disposition should be admitted in a sex offense case only 
when it tends to show such lustful inclination toward the 
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offended female. State v. Ferguson 100 Wn.2d 131, 134,667 
P.2d 68 (1983); State v. Bernson 40 Wn. App. 729, 737-38, 
700 P.2d 758 (1985). The evidence in this case does not. 
These video tapes have no connection with Gigi. The 
admission of Officer Emm's testimony about them was, 
therefore, improper 

State v. Medcalf, 58 Wn. App. 817, 823, 795 P.2d 158, 161 (1990). 

Notably, since Medcalf involved statutory rape, there was no requirement 

that the State prove the defendant had sexual intent and furthermore there 

was no evidence that the conduct pertained to a child. 

The State contends that these cases did not complete the analysis 

done here by the trial court in weighing admissibility of proof of intent under 

ER404(b). 

2. Any error in admitting the testimony regarding the 
defendant's statement regarding incest pornography would 
be harmless. 

Without conceding error in admission of the testimony regarding the 

defendant's admission to viewing incest pornography, the State contends that 

any error should be considered harmless in light of the evidence presented. 

Where an error violates an evidentiary rule rather than a 
constitutional mandate, the error is not prejudicial unless it is 
reasonably likely that the outcome of the trial would have 
been materially affected had the error not occurred. State v. 
Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 871, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). The 
improper admission of evidence is harmless error if the 
evidence is of minor significance in reference to the overall, 
overwhelming evidence as a whole. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d at 
871, 83 P.3d 970. 
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State v. Price, 126 Wn. App. 617, 638, 109 P.3d 27 (2005). 

The case of State v. Medcalf cited by Barker supports the contention 

that any error here would be harmless. The Court detennined as follows.

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